THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

**APPEAL FROM SC WORKERS COMPENSATION FULL COMMISSION JUDICIAL
CONFERENCE**

Full Commission Judicial Conference

RECEIVED

JUN 22 2020

SC Court of Appeals

SCWCC: 1320773

S.C. Court of Appeals Case No. 2019-001190

Tammy Jordan, Respondent,

v.

The Hartford Financial Group, Inc., Resurgent Capital Services, Employer, Interstate Contact
Cleaning Services, Inc. Third-Party Tortfeasor,
Of which The Hartford Financial Group, Inc. is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen Anderson (SC Bar #101085)
Clarkson, Walsh & Coulter, P.A.
P.O. Box 6728
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 232-4400
Attorney for Appellant

Greenville, SC

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission erred in finding Appellant did not meet the standard of "good cause" to reinstate Appellant's appeal to the full commission.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of Appellant The Hartford Financial Group, Inc., (“Hartford”), Motion to Enforce Lien against Responded Tammy Jordan’s (“Jordan”), Settlement with the Third Party Tortfeasor, Interstate Contact Cleaning Services, Inc., (“Interstate”). Jordan initially filed a lawsuit against Interstate for injuries she alleged to have sustained in work-related accident that occurred on November 14, 2013. Jordan filed her lawsuit on November 10, 2016. Jordan settled her lawsuit with Interstate and subsequently executed a “General Release” on March 7, 2018. Jordan contended that the settlement was for “only future pain and suffering” despite the clear language of the executed release, and was therefore not required to comply with SC Code § 42-1-560 (2013).

Hartford’s Motion to Enforce the Carrier’s Lien was heard by a single commissioner on November 14, 2018, and denied on January 22, 2019. Hartford then timely filed an appeal to the full commission. A Form 31 was set to the Hartford’s attorney on April 12, 2019, that indicated that an appellant brief was due on May 12, 2019, and that a full commission hearing would be held on June 17, 2019. (R. p. 7). For reasons set forth below, Hartford’s brief was filed after May 12. As such, the Hartford’s appeal was administratively dismissed on May 23, 2019. (R. p. 1). Hartford then filed a Motion to Reinstate for Good Cause on May 24, 2019. (R. pp. 3-5). Hartford’s Motion to Reinstate was denied in a Judicial Conference on June 17, 2019; without a hearing. (R. p. 2). A copy of the Judicial Conference Decision and Order was emailed to the Hartford’s attorney on the same. Hartford filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court on July 10, 2019.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) establishes the standard for judicial review of decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission. *See Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (S.C.1981); *Gibson v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. No. 3*, 338 S.C. 510, 526 S.E.2d 725 (Ct.App.2000). Under the scope of review established in the APA, this court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse or modify the Appellate Panel's decision if the appellant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” *See* S.C.Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(e) (Supp.2012). The South Carolina Supreme Court has defined substantial evidence as evidence that, in viewing the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion the Appellate Panel reached. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (S.C. 1981).

IV. ARGUMENT

The Appeal should be granted because Appellant demonstrated good cause as to why the Motion to Reinstate should have been granted pursuant to S.C. Code of Regulations R. 67-705(H)(4).

The Appellant’s attorney (“attorney”) was served with the Form 31 Briefing Schedule and Notice of Appellate Hearing on April 12, 2019. (R. p. 7). The attorney’s paralegal inadvertently placed the wrong date of May 27, 2019, (this is the date that the Respondent’s brief would have been due), on the undersigned’s calendar regarding the filing deadline for the Appellant’s brief. (R. p. 6). The Appellant’s brief was due by May

12, 2019, per the Form 31. (R. p. 7). The attorney learned that this matter had been administratively dismissed via email on May 23, 2019. The attorney filed an appellant brief on May 24, 2019, 24 days prior to the date of the full commission hearing.

S.C. Code of Regulations R. 67-705(H)(4) states that an “appeal administratively dismissed by the Judicial Department may be reinstated for a good cause upon motion to the Commission.” The above cited regulation does not provide a definition of “good cause”. The good cause standard for granting relief from an entry of default requires a party seeking relief to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacating the default entry would serve the interests of justice. *White Oak Manor, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 1, 753 S.E.2d 537(S.C. 2014). This Court affirmed a finding of the full commission that “good cause¹” existed on an occasion when an appellant claimed that they never received an order from a single commission hearing, and thus failed to timely file a Form 30 to the full commission. *Matute v. Palmetto Health Baptist*, 391 S.C. 291, 705 S.E.2d 472 (Ct. App. 2011)². The appellant in *Matute* alleged that the order was never served despite the respondent’s certificate of service indicating that the order was sent via first class mail. *Id* at 295. Also in *Matute*, the Court noted that the appellant filed a Form 30 four days after it learned from the commission that the order had been executed.

In this matter, the full commission left Appellant guessing as to why or how Appellant failed to demonstrate good cause. The order provided simply has 1 box checked indicating the Motion to Reinstate was denied. (R. p. 2). This matter should be

¹ This Court also did not define good cause.

² This case appears to be only case this Court has ever issued a published decision concerning S.C. Code of Regulations R. 67-705(H)(4).

remanded back to the full commission as good cause was shown by the Appellant. The Appellant demonstrated good cause via the Affidavit of Jill Lawrence that indicated that a simple calendaring error by the Appellant's attorney's paralegal is the sole cause of Appellant's failure to timely file a brief. (R. p. 6). A reasonable mind would have to conclude that the interests of justice are not being served by dismissing this matter in a closed hearing due to a harmless error that resulted in no prejudice to either party. Furthermore, the error in this instance is less egregious and far more transparent than the explanation that was found to demonstrate good cause by the full commission in the *Matute* case.


Appellant contends that if this Court should find good cause existed, the matter should be remanded back to the full commission with no further discussion. However, should this Court use the standard for determining good cause is identical to the standard used when determining whether an entry of default has been entered, Appellant contends that once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must also consider: 1. the timing of the motion for relief; 2. whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and 3. the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted. *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 607-608, 681 S.E.2d at 888. (S.C. 2009). In this matter, Appellant filed a motion for relief the day after it learned of the administrative dismissal, Appellant presented numerous meritorious defenses rooted in SC Code § 42-1-560 (2013), and there was no prejudice done to the Respondent as S.C. Code of Regulations R. 67-705(C) states that "The respondent *may* file a brief and proof of service on the opposing party with the Judicial Department within fifteen days of service of the appellant's brief". (*emphasis added*). The plain language of S.C. Code of

Regulations R. 67-705 clearly states that the respondent was not even required to file a brief. Even if Respondent wished to file a brief in response to Appellant's May 24 dated brief, Respondent still could have done so within 15 days after service of the Appellant's brief, as the full commission hearing was not until June 17.

V. CONCLUSION

Appellant has demonstrated good cause as to why this matter should be remanded to the full commission for hearing on its merits. This Court should remand this issue back to the full commission for a hearing on its merits.