THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE S.C. WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
T. Scott Beck, Chair for the Commission

Case No. 2020-001494

S.C. Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion No. 2020-UP-00235
Submitted June 1, 2020 – Filed August 12, 2020
Withdrawn, Substituted and Refiled November 4, 2020

Misty A. Morris, Claimant,

v.

BB&T Corporation, Employer, and Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., Carrier

IN RE: Attorney's Fee Petition of David Proffitt, Petitioner,

v.

South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. Keith Roberts, Esquire
S.C. Workers' Compensation Commission
S.C. Bar No. 100735
1333 Main St., Suite 500

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the Commission's administrative dismissal of Petitioner's appeal.

A. The Commission did not act arbitrarily and capriciously and did not abuse its discretion by declining to consider Petitioner's appeal on the merits.

"An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge's ruling is based upon an error of law, or when based upon factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538 (1987)(internal citations omitted). The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Regulations provide the procedure for appeal hearings. South Carolina Code of Regulations Section 67-705 requires an appellant to file a brief for each case appealed to the Commission. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705A (2021). The brief is due (filed and served) on or before the date on the Form 31 Briefing Schedule and Notice of Appellate Hearing. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705B (2021). However, the parties may agree to extend the brief filing deadline in a letter filed with the Commission prior to the original due date. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705H (2021). Where there has been no agreement between the parties and an appellant's brief is not timely filed, the Commission may administratively dismiss the appeal. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705H(3)(2021). Thereafter, an aggrieved party may file a motion to reinstate the appeal for "good cause" within in thirty (30) days. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705H(4)(a)(2021). The motion to reinstate is considered without oral argument by the Full Commission. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705H(4)(b)(2021). A showing of prejudice is not required. This Court, sitting in its original jurisdiction, has previously dismissed an appellant's appeal for failure to timely file a brief

according to similar authority in Rule 208(a)(4) of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure. *See Roberts v. LaConey*, 375 S.C. 97, 100 (2007); Rule 208(a)(4), SCACR.⁶

No cases have interpreted the meaning of “good cause” specifically under Regulation 67-705. Failure to receive proper service of a Commission Order has been considered “good cause” to reinstate an appeal that has been filed outside the fourteen (14) day appeal period under Regulation 67-701A. *See Matute v. Palmetto Health Baptist*, 391 S.C. 291, 294-96 (Ct. App. 2011); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-701A(2021). However, the Commission’s administrative dismissal for failure to file an appellate brief is analogous to the Clerk’s entry of default under our Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 55 requires the Clerk to make an entry of default where a party against whom a judgment is sought fails to plead or defend. Rule 55, SCRCPP. The entry of default may be set aside upon a showing of “good cause.” Rule 55(c), SCRCPP. The good cause standard, in this context, is instructive in interpreting the Commission regulation. For example, negligent failure to internally forward a complaint to the proper party resulting in a lack of response was not good cause to set aside a default judgment. *Campbell v. City of N. Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 462 (Ct. App. 2020). Failing to forward pleadings to the insurance company until after the expiration of time to answer was also not good cause to set aside default judgment. *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 609-10 (2009). This Court has held that losing a complaint is not good cause to set aside default. *White Oak Manor v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 1, 11 (2014).

Appellant concedes that he was required to file a brief to perfect his appeal to the Appellate Panel. (R. p. 19). It is also undisputed that Appellant received the Form 31 notice clearly setting

⁶ The South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure provide for an analogous procedure in the event of an appellant’s untimely brief submission. Rule 208(a)(4) requires the Clerk to issue an order dismissing the appeal where an appellant’s brief is untimely filed. Rule 208(a)(4), SCACR. The appeal may be reinstated for “good cause.” Rule 260, SCACR. Respondent knows of no cases addressing the constitutionality of this Appellate Court Rule.

forth the due date for the brief. (R. p. 19, 21, 62, 66). In Maute, a finding of good cause was based upon the procedural defect in service of the Order on the Defendants. Unlike the Defendant in Maute, Appellant received proper notice of all filings. Instead, he admittedly, inadvertently, and negligently allowed the filing deadline to expire. Under Roberts this Court has previously dismissed an appeal under similar Appellate Procedure rules for failure to file a brief. Holding otherwise in this case would effectively negate the need for a briefing schedule. This strong public interest overrules any justification supporting the adjudication of claims in face of alleged harmless error.

Furthermore, the decisions of our state appellate courts interpreting the meaning of “good cause” to set aside default judgments also support the Commission’s decision to administratively dismiss Appellant’s appeal. The Court of Appeals decision in Campbell, and this Court’s decisions in Sundown, and White Oak, are all examples of instances that a party’s negligence in asserting their rights failed to meet the good cause standard. Here, Appellant negligently calendared the brief due date for an appeal he initiated. A similar decision in this case is consistent with the public policy of requiring that an aggrieved person timely assert their rights to promote judicial efficiency.

That the regulations allowed Appellant to seek a consent order extending the brief deadline prior to the due date does not disturb this conclusion. Appellant could have inquired of the Commission as to the propriety of extending the deadline for the brief prior to its expiration, given that the merits involved only approval of his attorney fee and that the Defendants previously disclaimed any involvement in the appeal. However, because of the aforementioned “calendar error” this approval was not timely sought. The due date remained unchanged and Petitioner, admittedly, missed the deadline.

In addition, any assertion that Defendants were not prejudiced because of Appellant's untimely brief submission is an emotional appeal to this Court's sense of fairness and is illogical. A showing of prejudice is not required when administratively dismissing an appeal under either the Commission regulations or the Appellate Court Rules. Even if it was, the Claimant, Ms. Morris is continually and substantially prejudiced by the lengthy delay in receipt of the balance of her settlement.

Consideration of the aforementioned examples of good cause and the pervasive evidence in the record establishing that Appellant negligently missed his own deadline supports the Commission's decision to administratively dismiss the appeal and judicially dismiss⁷ the motion to reinstate. The Commission fully considered and the cumulative evidence in the record established that Appellant negligently missed his own deadline. Such evidence pervades the record; the Commission's decision was neither arbitrary or nor capricious and was not an abuse of discretion. (R. p. 19, 21, 49, 52, 58, 62, 66).

B. The Commission's decision declining to consider Petitioner's appeal on the merits was made upon lawful procedure and was not clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.⁸

As previously stated, the Commission's regulations provide the lawful procedure to perfect an appeal to the Appellate Panel. *See* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705A, B, H(3)-(4) (2021). Regulation 67-215 governs motions practice before the Commission and does not guarantee a formal hearing to dispose of a petitioner's motion. *See* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-215 (2021). The

⁷ Respondent asserts that there is no jurisdictional question. The Commission's dismissal of Appellant's appeal was not based upon a lack of jurisdiction. Under 67-705, the Commission had jurisdiction to determine whether good cause existed to reinstate.

⁸ Appellant offers no legal support for these conclusory statements. "[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review." Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76 (Ct. App. 2001). Respondent, wishing to argue these issues on appeal, addresses these arguments.

Commission promulgated these regulations pursuant to its legislative delegation, submitted them to the General Assembly for review, and published them in the State Register.⁹ *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-20(A) (2021); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-40 (1) (2021); S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-30 (2021). An administrative regulation reasonably related to the purpose of the enabling legislation is valid and carries the force of law. *U.S. Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 324 S.C. 1, 3-4 (1997)(internal citations omitted).

“A court may not substitute its judgment for that of an agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact unless the agency’s findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.” *Rodney v. Michelin Tire Corp.*, 320 S.C. 515, 519 (1996)(internal citations omitted). “Substantial evidence is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached.” *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

The Commission followed the procedure provided in its regulations to the letter. Appellant’s Form 30 Request for Commission Review was received on November 15, 2017. (R. p. 3). On December 15, the Form 31 Briefing Schedule and Notice of Appellate Hearing was sent to Appellant. (R. p. 16). This notice set January 14, 2018 as the filing date for Appellant’s brief. (R. p. 16). After receiving no response, and pursuant to Regulation 67-705H(3), the Commission exercised its discretion, administratively dismissed the appeal, and notified Appellant of the decision. (R. p. 18). After receiving Appellant’s timely motion to reinstate on February 1, 2018, it considered and dismissed the motion without oral argument pursuant to its authority under 67-705H(4)(b). (R. p. 1). As discussed above, Appellant’s grounds for good cause, that he made a negligent mistake, was legally and factually inadequate to support a decision to reinstate the

⁹ S.C. Reg. Vol. 16, Issue No. 4, eff April 24, 1992; S.C. Reg. Vol. 21, Issue No. 4, eff April 25, 1997.

appeal. Thereafter, on March 19, 2018, the Commission considered and denied Appellant's motion to reconsider also pursuant their regulations. (R. p. 2).

The regulation at issue was lawfully enacted: Promulgated by the Commission, reviewed by the Legislature, and published in the State Register. No evidence has been presented to suggest otherwise. The Commission's decision was not made upon unlawful procedure and was not an unlawful application of lawful procedure.

The assertion that a party that is "ready and willing" to file an untimely brief and did not object to a continuance has no bearing on whether the procedure utilized by the agency to dispose of the claim is lawful or unlawful. Furthermore, there is no requirement that a party be prejudiced for a finding of unlawful procedure or a clearly erroneous decision. Both assertions are an emotional plea for relief lacking logical and legal support.

In sum, as previously stated, evidence that the Appellant negligently missed the briefing schedule deadline pervades the record. (R. p. 19, 21, 49, 52, 58, 62, 66). The record lacks any evidence that the Commission could reasonably rely upon to hold otherwise. No explanation, reason, or circumstances were provided to explain the circumstances surrounding the incorrect calendaring of the due date. Therefore, because the Commission's decision was based upon lawful procedure and was not clearly erroneous, the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Commission should not be disturbed on review.

- II. The Commission's failure to consider Petitioner's appeal on the merits did not violate his constitutional and statutory rights to procedural due process or his constitutional and statutory rights to substantive due process.
 - A. Procedural due process requires only such procedure commensurate with the import of the right at issue; Petitioner received sufficient procedure.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that no citizen shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. CONST. amend. V. This provision is applied to the individual States through the protections of the Fourteenth Amendment. *See* U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1. In accordance with its federal counterpart, the South Carolina Constitution guarantees due process protections of an individual’s life, liberty, or property. S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. The concept that the protection of liberty or property rights must be accompanied by sufficient procedural safeguards also applies with equal force to administrative proceedings: “No person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasi-judicial decision of an administrative agency affecting private rights except on due notice and an opportunity to be heard.” S.C. Const. art. 1, § 22. “[T]he fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” McIntyre v. Sec. Comm’r of S. Carolina, 425 S.C. 439, 449 (Ct. App. 2018)(citing Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm’n, 376 S.C. 165, 171 (2008)). Due process, in the administrative context, “does not require notice and the opportunity to be heard at each level of the administrative process” only that notice and the opportunity to be heard occur prior to the final agency decision. Ross v. Med. Univ. of S. Carolina, 328 S.C. 51, 58 (1997)(citing DeGroot v. Employment Sec. Comm’n, 285 S.C. 209 (Ct. App. 1985)).

Under either constitutional provision, due process does not always require a “trial type hearing,” but rather is “flexible dependent upon the demands of the situation.” Kurschner, 376 S.C. at 171-72 (internal citations omitted). “The requirements in a particular case depend on the importance of the interest involved and the circumstances under which the deprivation may occur. Sloan v. S. Carolina Bd. of Physical Therapy Exam’rs, 370 S.C. 452, 485 (2006)(overruled on other grounds)(citing S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Beeks, 325 S.C. 243, 246 (1997)). For example,

a defendant in a DSS intervention hearing must be provided the opportunity to confront his minor accuser, with some exceptions, when the interest involved is the important liberty right to parent one's children. *See S. Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Wilson*, 352 S.C. 445 (2002). More formal notice and hearing procedures are also required where the government deprives a teacher of the important liberty interest in the ability to practice her profession and property interest in her job by invalidating her teaching certification. *See Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ.*, 301 S.C. 326 (1990); *see also In re Vora*, 354 S.C. 590 (2003)(physician received adequate due process because he was afforded a hearing and an appeal before a deprivation of the important liberty interest to practice his profession). An administrative hearing assessing a fine against managers of a limited liability company and lacking any promulgated rules for hearing procedure violated due process. *See McIntyre*, 425 S.C. at 439. In some cases, the presence of provisions for *de novo* review and formal type hearing procedures on appeal can cure procedural due process defects during lower tribunal proceedings. *Unisys Corp. v. S. Carolina Budget and Control Bd.*, 346 S.C. 158, 173-75 (2001).

Some alleged "rights" are viewed as so insignificant that they are not categorized as a right at all, requiring no due process protections. A mere "desire for future work" is not a "right" and therefore due process protections are inapplicable. *See S. Carolina Ambulatory Surgery Ass'n v. The S. Carolina Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 389 S.C. 380, 392 (2010).

The alleged constitutional right at issue in this case is a property interest in unapproved attorney fees. Characterizing the constitutional right as the right to practice a chosen profession is overly broad. Regulation 67-705 on its face does not restrict the ability to practice law, only the ability to fully argue a single case on appeal. Unlike the teacher in *Brown*, whose license to teach was invalidated or the physician in *Vora* who's employment with the hospital was completely

terminated, an attorney who receives an administrative dismissal from the Commission may continue to assist other clients, move to reinstate the appeal, and otherwise continue practicing their chosen profession.

Neither Appellant nor Respondent can point to any cases specifically holding that a property right exists in unapproved attorney fees. However, Respondent argues that this Court should not recognize a constitutional right to such fees as doing so would invalidate duly enacted portions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act regulating fees. Section 42-15-90 requires the approval of attorney fees before a fee is received by the attorney. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-90 (2021). Receipt of such fees prior to approval by the Commission constitutes a misdemeanor and the offending individual is subject to a \$500.00 fine and up to one year in prison. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-90(B)(2)(2021). It is axiomatic there can be no property right to a fee that is illegal to possess prior to approval and due process would not be offended without any procedural safeguards in place for unapproved fees. Thus, Petitioner's "right" to unapproved attorney fees is on equal footing with the Ambulatory Surgery Center's "desire for future work." No process would be required as there has been no unconstitutional deprivation.

Should this Court disagree and find, to some degree, a constitutionally protected property interest in unapproved attorney fees, the Commission's legitimately enacted regulations provide sufficient process for its protection. In this case, Petitioner admittedly and negligently missed the brief deadline. The Commission, following its regulations, notified Petitioner by letter that his appeal had been administratively dismissed. Thereafter, Petitioner availed himself of the duly enacted regulatory procedure to reinstate the appeal and timely filed a motion to reinstate for "good cause." This was subsequently and thoroughly considered by the Full Commission without oral

argument consistent with the regulations and ruled upon. Petitioner was timely notified of the decision.¹⁰ Petitioner received all the process he was due under the Federal and State Constitutions.

That the Commission's regulations allow for a subsequent motion to reinstate and judicial review of such motion,¹¹ cures any potential procedural defect inherent in the administrative dismissal pursuant to this Court's holding in Unisys. Furthermore, because an administrative court need not provide notice and a hearing at every level of proceeding, Petitioner also received the basic protections of notice and an opportunity to be heard. No additional procedural requirements are necessary under Article I, section 22.

B. Petitioner was not arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of the property interest in practicing his profession.

A substantive due process inquiry focuses on whether an individual was deprived of a constitutionally protected right for arbitrary reasons. Worsley Co., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 339 S.C. 51, 56 (2000). "A plaintiff must show that he was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest rooted in state law." Id. (citing Scott v. Greenville County, 716 F.2d 1409 (4th Cir. 1983)). "There is no reasonable doubt that the rights of those who have been duly licensed to practice medicine or other professions are property rights of value which are entitled to protection." Dantzler v. Callison, 230 S.C. 75, 92 (1956)(internal citations omitted). In fact, the right of a person to practice his profession for which he has prepared himself is property of the highest quality. Id. (internal citations omitted).

¹⁰ Thereafter, Petitioner moved for a rehearing before the Commission and, following an unsatisfactory decision, appealed his cause to the Court of Appeals. (R. p. 47). The Court of Appeals affirmed the Commission's denial of the motion to reinstate. Morris v. BB&T, Op. No. 2020-UP-235 (S.C. Ct. App. filed November 4, 2020). This petition for certiorari followed.

¹¹ The Commission's issuance of a Form Order following judicial deliberation on Petitioner's motion to reinstate is not necessarily indicative of a lack of "meaningful judicial review."

As previously stated, the proper characterization of the right at issue is the right to an unapproved attorney's fee. There can be no property right to a fee that is illegal to possess prior to its approval. Where no property right exists, there is no unconstitutional deprivation.

Even if this Court agrees that the proper characterization of the constitutional right at issue is the right to practice one's profession, Appellant was not deprived of his right to practice law. Brown involved a unilateral revocation of a teaching certificate. In re Vora involved a medical doctor's right to be reappointed to a staff position at a hospital. The underlying theme in these cases is that the aggrieved individuals were denied licenses or some other necessary qualification for continued employment. Petitioner was denied none of these. It does not follow that one's right to practice a profession is inhibited by one court ruling in one case out of many that an attorney handles regularly for multiple clients. Furthermore, Appellant was awarded a fee by the Commission.

Furthermore, as above, any alleged deprivation was not arbitrary and capricious. The record on appeal is replete with references to Appellant's negligently missed deadline and lack of prejudice. (R. p. 19, 21, 49, 52, 58, 62, 66). No additional circumstances are provided, other than a calendaring error, upon which a court could have found good cause. Also as previously stated, the Commission precisely followed its regulatory procedure in disposing of Appellant's appeal. Therefore, the Commission's decision was well supported by the record and not arbitrary and capricious.

CONCLUSION